STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

ORIGINAL

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from Greenville County

SEP 17 2015

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES EDDIE BAILEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002447

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in denying Appellant Bailey's request to charge the jury on the spoliation of evidence when the in-car video of Deputy Joseph Giovanni, who was one of the responding officers, was destroyed by the officers before it was viewed by the parties?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 22, 2013, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted James Eddie Bailey on the charges of armed robbery (AR), kidnapping, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and resisting arrest. October 8-10, 2014, Bailey proceeded to trial before the Honorable Steven H. John and a jury. Bailey was represented by Symmes Watkins Culbertson, and the state was represented by Allen Fretwell. October 8, 2014 R. 1. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on the four charges as indicted. Oct. 9, 2014 R. 114, ll. 20 – R. 115, ll. 24. Judge John sentenced Bailey to the required life without parole (LWOP) based on Bailey's prior convictions of AR in 1982 and ten counts of AR from 1996. Oct. 9, 2014 R. 118, ll. 7 – R. 125, ll. 21. Bailey's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 14, 2013, Appellant James Bailey entered the Dollar General Store on Poinsett Highway in Greenville just before closing time at nine o'clock pm. Sharon Taylor, the manager, was there as well as the cashier and Tom Nash who was Sharon's boyfriend. Oct 8, 2014. R. 5, ll. 17 – R. 6, ll. 6.

Bailey allegedly followed Ms. Taylor until he cornered her in an aisle, grabbed her hair, threw her on the floor, and held a knife to her throat. Bailey allegedly told her this was a robbery and he was going to kill her. He pushed on her throat with the knife until blood appeared. Ms. Taylor's boyfriend appeared. Bailey told him he wanted money so Tom Nash went to the cash register and got twenty-two dollars which he gave to Bailey. Oct. 9-10, 2014. R. 32, ll. 1 – R. 35, ll. 7.

In the meantime, the cashier had seen Bailey on top of Ms. Taylor so she called 911 and summoned the boyfriend, Tom Nash. When he gave Bailey the money, Nash told him he better leave because the police were coming. Bailey then left through the front door. Oct. 9-10, 2014 R. 35, ll. 5 – 22; Oct. 8, 2014 R. 6, ll. 1 – R. 7, ll. 18.

Deputy Nathaniel Emily was the first officer to respond to the incident. When he pulled up to the store, he saw Bailey and Nash at the door. Deputy Emily pulled his weapon and Bailey ran around the corner. He did see a knife in Bailey's hand. Deputy Emily was not the officer who arrested Bailey. Oct. 9-10, 2014 R. 48, ll. 1 – R. 53, ll. 9. A DVD of the in-car video from Deputy Emily's car that was operating at the time was introduced and published to the jury. Oct. 9-10, 2014 R. 44, ll. 1 – R. 47, ll. 22.

Officer Michael J. Giovanni heard the dispatch of the incident and joined in the chase of Bailey. He saw Bailey behind a church and yelled for him to stop. Bailey continued

to walk away. Deputy Giovanni pulled his taser and used it on Bailey. Other deputies arrived and assisted Giovanni. They finally subdued Bailey and found a knife in his hand. Oct. 9-10, 2014 R. 57, ll. 1 – R. 62, ll. 24.

Deputy Giovanni admitted that he had an in-car video that was operating that night. However, it was not turned over to the prosecution as evidence because Deputy Giovanni saw nothing of evidentiary value on the video. He viewed it and it only showed his driving to the scene. Bailey was not on that video. Oct. 9-10, 2014 R. 55, ll. 1 – R. 56, ll. 16.

Following the jury charges, there was no objection to the charges by either party. The following day when the trial resumed, defense counsel requested that the judge give the jury a charge on spoliation based on the fact that Deputy Giovanni's in-car video was not presented in evidence. Counsel said he should have requested it earlier but was requesting it then. Counsel made a motion for the charges against Bailey bedismissed. Oct. 9-10, 2014 R. 91, ll. 8 - R. 105, ll. 25.

The solicitor argued that a motion to dismiss was not proper and defense counsel should have requested the charge during the charging conference. Defense counsel responded that this was due process issue that could be raised anytime. The judge responded that there was no evidence that the state destroyed the evidence in bad faith. The judge refused to give the spoliation charge. Oct. 9-10, 2014 R. 106, ll. 1 – R. 109, ll. 23.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Appellant Bailey's request to charge the jury on the spoliation of evidence when the in-car video of Deputy Joseph Giovanni, who was one of the responding officers, was destroyed by the officers before it was viewed by the parties.

The Due Process clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments mandate a defendant's fundamental right to a fair trial. State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 503 S.E.2d 214 (Ct. App. 1998).

In State v. Osborne, 291 S.C. 265, 353 S.E.2d 276 (1987), the Supreme Court ruled that the prosecution's nondisclosure of tape recordings of statements made by key state's witness in prosecution of defendants for conspiracy, armed robbery, kidnapping, and murder deprived defendants of fair trial requiring new trial.

In Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), the United State Supreme Court declared the suppression of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution. State v Harvey Jones and Melissa Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 479 S.E.2d 517 (Ct. App. 1996) citing Brady v. Maryland, *supra*.

The Sixth Amendment provides an accused with the right to be confronted with witnesses against him. The Sixth Amendment rights to notice, confrontation, and compulsory process guarantee that a criminal charge may be answered through the calling and interrogation of favorable witnesses, the cross-examination of adverse witnesses, and the orderly introduction of evidence. State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 449-450, 602 S.E.2d 62, 71 (Ct. App. 2004).

The Fourteenth Amendment secures all persons against any state action which results in either deprivation of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

In Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988), the United States Supreme Court held that unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence did not constitute a denial of due process of law. Youngblood was accused of sexually assaulting and sodomizing a ten year old boy. The police collected a rectal swab for semen and the child's clothing. However, the police failed to refrigerate the clothing and failed to perform tests on the semen samples. None of their information was concealed from the respondent at trial, and the evidence was made available to the respondent's expert who declined to perform any tests on the samples.

In his dissent in Arizona v. Youngblood, id., Justice Blackmun wrote that a defendant was entitled to a fair trial, and not a "good faith" try at a fair trial.

The South Carolina Supreme Court held in State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001), that to establish a due process violation based on the destruction of evidence, a defendant must demonstrate (1) that the state destroyed the evidence in bad faith; or (2) that the evidence possessed an exculpatory value before the evidence was destroyed and the defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means.

The Supreme Court held the proposition that Cheeseboro had to show bad faith on the part of the state. Bailey's case is distinguished because the evidence was never presented to him.

Cheeseboro is the wrong standard. It is impossible to comply with because how much evidence of misconduct is being demonstrated currently with camera recordings is difficult to determine. Therefore, the police should not be able to destroy evidence because in their unilateral opinion it had nothing of value.

In State v. Hutton, 358 S.C. 622, 595 S.E.2d 876 (2004), the Court of Appeals held that the state's failure to preserve the victim's unfinished initial statement to police officer did not violate due process, and the defendant was not prejudiced by the state's failure to preserve the statement. However, the Court wrote that although they could not find that the defendant was entitled to a dismissal of the charges, the Court wrote that they "cautioned the prosecution and law enforcement authorities that the destruction of evidence will be highly scrutinized."

In Kershaw County Board of Education v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 302 S.C. 390, 396 S.E.2d 369 (1990), the Supreme Court approved the trial court's use of a spoliation charge even in the absence of evidence of intentional misconduct.

South Carolina Code Section 56-5-2953 (C) provides that a video recording must not be disposed of in any manner except for its transfer to a master recording for consolidation purposes until the results of any legal proceeding in which it may be involved are finally determined. Although 56-5-2953 concerns reckless homicide or driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, the premise is the same. Evidence in the form of a police video should be preserved.

In State v. Adams, 304 S.C. 302, 403 S.E.2d (Ct. App. 1991), Adams was claiming the original breathalyzer test was not valid and it was lost. However, Adams had been given a copy of the results, and could testify as to his claim. Bailey never had the evidence nor a

copy nor the results so he could not determine if it was exculpatory or not. The police handling of the investigation was so severely inappropriate to the point of being misconduct and bad faith. The police conduct was a violation of his due process right to a fair trial.