ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County  
The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002447

RECEIVED

SEP 08 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES EDDIE BAILEY,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE  
Staff Attorney

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North St  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court properly denied Appellant's untimely request for a spoliation jury charge in this case because the State did not destroy the dashboard camera's videotape in bad faith, and there was no indication the videotape contained exculpatory evidence.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for armed robbery, kidnapping, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and resisting arrest on October 22, 2013, by a Greenville County grand jury. A jury found Appellant guilty of all charges after a trial before the Honorable Steven H. John. (R. p. 1.)<sup>1</sup> Symmes Watkins Culbertson, Esquire represented Appellant, and Allen Fretwell, Esquire represented the State. Judge John sentenced Appellant to one year imprisonment for resisting arrest, five years for possession of a weapon during a violent crime, and life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for armed robbery and kidnapping. (R. p. 124, line 24- p. 125, line 20.) Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal, and this Appeal follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial took place over three days in October of 2014.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the evening of April 14<sup>th</sup>, 2013, Sharon Taylor, the manager of a Greenville Dollar General, was preparing to close the store for the night. (R. p. 31, line 2-25 and p. R. Supp. p. 1, line 1-14.) Taylor had not been scheduled to work and was on vacation, but she agreed to come in around 6:30 pm, when the manager who was scheduled that evening quit suddenly. (R. p. 31, lines 12-19.) Because she was not expecting to be called in to work, and she lived a long distance away, Taylor was accompanied to the store by her boyfriend, Tom Nash, who would wait for her until the end of her shift. (R. Supp. p. 1, lines 5-10.) Also working that evening was Karen Nartowicz, a cashier at the Dollar General. (R. p. 30, lines 21-25.)

At around 8:55 pm, Taylor noticed a few customers still shopping in the store, including Appellant, who entered and asked Nartowicz about pet food. (R. p. 32, lines 18-20.) Her boyfriend Nash was helping another female shopper carry her bags to her car outside. (R. p. 17, lines 2-6.) Appellant lingered in the back corner of the store, which Taylor found unusual because the pet food was located in a different area. (R. p. 32, lines 18-20.) Taylor asked Appellant if he needed any help, but he declined, so she stepped into the office for a few minutes. (R. p. 32, lines 21-25.) As she exited the office, she heard Appellant ask Nartowicz where “the other lady was.” (R. p. 33, line 14.) Taylor asked him how she could help him, and he responded he needed help with some snacks. (R. p. 33, lines 17-20.)

Taylor was immediately uncomfortable with Appellant’s request, because the snacks were clearly visible. (R. p. 33, lines 19-23.) Taylor stayed behind Appellant as she directed him down the aisle, but he turned and grabbed her by the hair, held a knife to her side, and dragged her to the back hall. (R. p. 34, lines 1-3.) Appellant threw Taylor to the

floor and held her down at knifepoint, telling her “this is a robbery and I’ll kill you.” (R. p. 34, lines 3-5.)

Nartowicz heard the commotion and told Nash, who had just returned inside from helping the customer to her car. (R. p. 17, lines 2-14.) Nash saw Appellant on the floor with Taylor, with one arm wrapped around her side, and the other holding her head back. (R. p. 18, lines 6-10.) Taylor attempted to grab a can of soup to hit Appellant, but Nash told her to stop for fear of angering Appellant. (R. p. 19, lines 10-17.) Appellant told Nash he wanted money and told him to go to the cash register to get it or he would kill Taylor. (R. p. 34, lines 20-24.) Appellant began to cut Taylor across her throat. (R. p. 34, lines 22-23.)

Nash took twenty- two dollars from the cash register. (R. p. 21, lines 5-9.) Nartowicz was speaking to the 911 operator and handed Nash the phone. (R. p. 21, lines 10-14.) The operator told Nash the police were on the way. (R. p. 21, lines 13-14.) When Nash returned to Appellant and Taylor, he gave Appellant the money and told him the police were coming. (R. p. 35, lines 5-7.) Appellant released Taylor but told her to stay on the floor. (R. p. 35, lines 8-10.) As he walked to the front of the store, he noticed Nartowicz on the phone and motioned toward her. (R. p. 22, lines 6-10.) Nash told him to leave and held open the front door. (R. p. 22, line 11.)

As Appellant stepped out of the front door, he noticed the police car that had just arrived on the scene. (R. p. 22, lines 17-18.) Master Deputy Nathaniel Emily, of the Greenville County Sheriff’s Department, was approximately two miles away when the call went out from dispatch, so he was able to arrive at the Dollar General within thirty or forty-five seconds. (R. p. 36, lines 1-2 and p. 37, lines 5-7.) Emily parked the patrol car facing the store, with his blue lights and siren extinguished. (R. p. 38, lines 13-22.) A

spotlight over the front door of the Dollar General shone down and illuminated the entrance. (R. p. 39, lines 14-19.) As Emily exited his vehicle, he noticed Appellant, who matched the description given by dispatch, and Nash at the front door of the store. (R. p. 39, lines 2-13.) Emily drew his sidearm and shouted at Appellant to put his hands up. (R. p. 39, lines 6-7.) Emily was able to see the knife in Appellant's left gloved hand and what appeared to be wadded up paper or cash in his right gloved hand. (R. p. 41, lines 6-13).

Appellant ran away, and Emily followed in foot pursuit. (R. p. 41, lines 19-21.) Emily's dashboard camera recorded his approach to the Dollar General and continued to record after he parked his patrol car. (R. p. 44, lines 12-19.) The video was entered into evidence at trial. (R. p. 45, line 24.) As Emily chased Appellant, he radioed the suspect's description to dispatch. (R. p. 42, lines 8-10.) Emily chased Appellant through several parking lots, and kept the other responding units apprised of their location. (R. p. 42, lines 8-25 and p. 43, lines 1-12.) Emily used his flashlight to illuminate Appellant running ahead of him. (R. p. 43, lines 15-17.)

Deputy Giovanni, also with the Greenville County Sheriff's Department, heard the call go out from dispatch and aided in the pursuit. (R. p. 54, lines 22-25.) Giovanni's dashboard camera activated at the same time as his blue lights, and recorded his drive to the scene. (R. p. 55, lines 17-25 and p. 56, lines 1-5.) When Deputy Giovanni parked his car, however, Appellant was already behind a nearby church, and Giovanni lost sight of him for a few seconds. (R. p. 58, lines 9-13.) Giovanni spotted Appellant walking away, and called out to him. (R. p. 58, lines 16-22.) Appellant continued to walk away after Giovanni repeated his calls, so the deputy deployed his taser on Appellant. (R. p. 59, lines 4-7.) Giovanni later reviewed his dashboard camera with his Sergeant, and because

Appellant was never in view of the camera, he determined the video had no evidentiary value and it was erased. (R p. 56, lines 6-16.)

Deputy Mathew May was also on scene to assist in the arrest. (R. p. 63, lines 24-25.) Appellant fell to the ground when Deputy Giovanni tased him. After the five second cycle finished, Giovanni and May attempted to take custody of him. (R. p. 60, lines 2-7.) While Appellant was on the ground, Giovanni and Deputy May struggled to pull his hands out from under him to place him in handcuffs. (R. p. 61, lines 4-19.) Appellant resisted, and refused to put his hands behind his back. (R. p. 62, lines 12-14.) Eventually the deputies were able to pull his hands from underneath him, and they discovered Appellant was still holding the knife. (R. p. 62, lines 20-22.) During the search incident to Appellant's arrest, deputies found twenty two dollars in cash in his front right pocket, gloves, a piece of black cloth with string attached, and his wallet in his rear right pocket. (R. p.. 64, lines 1-25 and p. 65, lines 1-25.)

## ARGUMENT

**The circuit court properly denied Appellant's untimely request for a spoliation jury charge in this case because the State did not destroy the dashboard camera's videotape in bad faith, and there was no indication the videotape contained exculpatory evidence.**

Appellant argues the trial judge committed reversible error when he refused to charge the jury on a spoliation of evidence inference. Appellant waived his objection to the charge given at trial, however, by failing to make his request in a timely manner. Further, Appellant presented no evidence of bad faith by the State, nor indicated any exculpatory value of the missing evidence to warrant such a charge. His argument, therefore, is without merit.

### **Improper Objection Under Rule 20**

At trial, Appellant only discussed two issues before the judge charged the jury, and those involved circumstantial evidence and the distinction among the four charged crimes. (R. p. 66, lines 10-13 and p. 67, lines 4-5.) After the judge gave the jury instructions, he again asked for objections. Appellant replied "'your honor, quite honestly, it's one of the better charges I've heard in a long time.'" (R. p. 102, lines 4-5.) His request to the trial court judge for the spoliation charge was made the following day, while the jury was in deliberations. (R. p. 105, lines 8-17.) As for why the issue was not raised previously, counsel conceded, "I did not have that thought in my head." (R. p. 105, lines 16-17.)

Rule 20 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure states:

**(a) Time for Request.** All requests for legal instructions to the jury shall be submitted *at the close of the evidence*, or at such earlier time as the trial judge shall reasonably direct. All requests must include accurate citation to authorities relied upon.

**(b) Objections to Charge.** Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction *before the jury retires*, but out of the hearing of the jury. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection. *Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection*

(emphasis added.) The solicitor properly pointed out that the addition of the charge after the jury began deliberations would improperly highlight the issue, giving the charge more weight than it deserved. (R. p. 106, lines 18-24.) Appellant failed to object when given the opportunity before and after the jury was charged at the close of evidence, and he made his motion well after the jury retired.

Any error should be called to the attention of the judge at the conclusion of the charge in the absence of the jury; a party who fails to object at that time cannot later complain. Thomas-McCain, Inc. v. Siter, 268 S.C. 193, 199, 232 S.E.2d 728, 730 (1977). Moreover, to be timely, an objection to the trial court's oral charge, with grounds for the objection, must be made before the jury retires to consider its verdict and must be stated with sufficient clarity or specificity to preserve the error. Am. Cast Iron Pipe Co. v. Williams, 591 So.2d 854, 856 (Ala. 1991). Thus, in accordance with the Rules of Criminal Procedure and the common law, Appellant's request for the jury charge was untimely, and his objection was therefore waived.

**Failure to Show Bad Faith or Exculpatory Value**

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his request for a spoliation of evidence jury charge and therefore violated his due process rights. He argues a spoliation charge was mandated by Deputy Giovanni's failure to preserve the dashboard camera videotape from the night he was arrested.

As the trial judge noted, the State does not have an absolute duty to preserve potentially useful evidence, and a defendant must demonstrate either: 1) the State destroyed evidence in bad faith; or 2) the evidence's exculpatory value was readily apparent before the evidence was destroyed, and the defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means. State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 702 S.E.2d 395, 404 (Ct. App. 2010) (R. p. 107, lines 11-25 and 108, lines 1-3.) The bad faith requirement limits the extent of the State's obligation to preserve evidence to reasonable bounds, and confines it to cases in which the police conduct indicates the evidence could form a basis for exonerating the defendant. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58 (1988); Moses, 702 S.E.2d at 403.

As a threshold matter, the videotape was "potentially" useful evidence, at best, although Appellant offers no suggestion how it might be useful, and the State did not have an absolute duty to preserve it. Therefore, Appellant must show either bad faith by the police, or the videotape had "readily apparent" exculpatory value before it was taped over. The State submits he cannot meet either prong of the spoliation analysis, and therefore, a spoliation jury charge was not warranted in this case.

Significantly, Appellant does not contend the videotape was intentionally destroyed to avoid revealing exculpatory evidence. Rather, he argues the decision by Giovanni and his supervisor to review and erase the tape was inappropriate police procedure tantamount to bad faith. (Appellant's Brief p. 10.) The evidence presented at trial, however, contradicts his argument. Giovanni and his supervisor reviewed the video, saw Appellant never appeared on camera, and therefore they believed the tape had no evidentiary value. (R. Supp. p. 2, lines 11-23.)

Giovanni testified he was the second officer on scene, and Appellant was out of his line of sight when he parked his patrol car. (R. p. 58, lines 1-10.) The trial court judge found “zero” evidence the State destroyed the videotape in bad faith. (R. p. 108, lines 7-8.) Thus, Appellant clearly cannot meet the first prong of the spoliation analysis.

Appellant contends because he has no knowledge of what evidence the video may have shown, a conclusion the tape contained exculpatory evidence is required. Appellant cannot even speculate the videotape had any exculpatory value, much less “readily apparent” exculpatory value. On the contrary, both Giovanni and Emily testified Appellant matched the suspect’s description, ran from the police, and continued to resist arrest. The dashboard videotape from Emily’s patrol car, which was more probative and relevant, was entered into evidence.

In the absence of bad faith or exculpatory value, the State was not required to preserve the videotape. Appellant essentially contends he was entitled to a spoliation charge simply because the videotape was no longer available. Mandating a spoliation charge under the circumstances of this case effectively eviscerates the limits established in Youngblood, and adopted by the courts of South Carolina in Moses. In essence, defendants would be entitled to the spoliation jury charge even in cases where the State would not be required by law to preserve the evidence at issue, simply because the defense claims the evidence was “potentially” useful, even if there is no indication the evidence had exculpatory value. Such a result imposes an unwarranted burden on the State, which will face the negative inference of a spoliation charge based on nothing more than a defendant’s conclusory claim particular evidence might have helped the defense.

Further, specifically instructing the jury it may infer the videotape in this case was adverse to the State would be tantamount to a prohibited charge on the facts. S.C. Const. Art. V, §21 (“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.”). It is undisputed the videotape footage from the night Appellant was arrested was no longer available only because the deputy and his supervisor taped over it in the ordinary course of business. Even if stated as a permissible inference, a specific jury charge regarding the unavailable videotape would improperly focus on the fact the videotape was unavailable.

Appellant questioned witnesses about the missing videotape, and he argued in closing that the missing videotape created reasonable doubt. (R. Supp. p. 2, lines 11-25, p. 3, lines 1-13; R. p. 178, lines 9-16.). The circuit court properly instructed the jury it was the sole judge of the facts and the witnesses’ credibility. (R. p. 91, lines 18-24). The jury knew about the missing videotape and was free to give the missing videotape whatever weight the jurors deemed necessary.

In the absence of evidence indicating State misconduct, or that the videotape had any exculpatory value, the Appellant was not entitled to the spoliation jury charge. The circuit court properly denied Appellant’s untimely request, and his conviction should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**